1977

State of Utah In the Interest of Prisbrey, David (6/3/59) A Person Under Eighteen Years of Age : Appellant's Brief

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This case seeks to determine whether the proclamation of the Governor establishing a maximum 55 MPH speed limit expired by its own terms prior to the date of the alleged violation by the driver.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Judge John Farr Larson determined that the 55 MPH maximum speed limit established by the Utah Governor on January 2, 1974, was still in effect on December 8, 1976. He found the charge against the driver to be true and assessed a fine.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the 55MPH maximum speed limit established by the proclamation of the Utah Governor on January 2, 1974, determined by the Supreme Court to have expired by its own terms prior to December 8, 1976.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The youthful driver in this case was driving home from work on December 8, 1976. He had entered Interstate 15 headed South from the Fifth South on-ramp in Salt Lake City. The driver was stopped by a Highway Patrol Officer

and referred to the Juvenile Court for exceeding the posted 55 MPH limit.

The attorney for the young person filed a motion to dismiss supported by a memorandum of authorities. The Juvenile Court ruled against the contention of the driver that the 55 mile rule had no force and effect on the 8th day of December, 1976. The Court assessed a fine against the driver and the driver appealed.

POINT 1

THE PROCLAMATION OF THE GOVERNOR OF JANUARY 2, 1974, EXPIRED ON THE BASIS OF ITS OWN PREMISES PRIOR TO DECEMBER 8, 1976.

The Governor in Utah does not have law making power under the Constitution of Utah. By Article VI, Section 1 of the constitution the legislative power is vested in the legislature and in the people if they exercise the initiative or referendum.

During World War II the Legislature gave power to the Governor to proclaim speed limits to conform to the recommendations of federal authority at time of war or national emergency. This grant of authority is embodied in Section 41-6-46 (4) of the Utah Code.

This is not a transfer of the power of the legislature to make law. Such would be an unlawful delegation of legislative power. This statute essentially gives the Governor administrative rule making power to conform with federal recommendations upon his determination that there is a war or national emergency and there is a recommendation of federal authorities.

On January 2, 1974, the Utah Governor did issue a proclamation. It was in the usual proclamation form. It contained whereas clauses. The first whereas clause referred to Section 41-6-46 (4) of the Utah Code. The second whereas clause had its foundation in H. R. 11372 of January 2, 1974.

tive language of the proclamation is based. They take the place of the usual fact findings of traditional rule making procedures.

H. R. 11372 did not declare a national emergency. It declared a fuel conservation policy during a period of current and imminent fuel shortage. It used the power of the federal purse to coerce state action to adopt a 55 MPH rule in conformity with the fuel shortage problem. It gave the states 60 days to adopt the limit before the federal bucks would be cut off.

This opportunity suited Governor Rasmussen. He had proposed a 55 mile limit for urban areas theretofore but his proposal didn't take with the Road Commission or others having powers with respect to speed limits. He issued the proclamation almost before the ink was dry on Richard Nixon's signature on H. R. 11372.

A budget session of the Utah Legislature was set to convene within two weeks. The budget session could have considered the problem and dealt with it inasmuch as it involved important fiscal matters involving the flow of federal highway money into and out of the state coffers.

The Governor made his move after attributing national emergency status to the fuel shortage circumstances.

The Utah Supreme Court sustained the proclamation of the Governor notwithstanding its own observations that the energy crisis was probably not as serious as forecasted. State vs. Foukas, Case No. 14135, filed January 24, 1977. What that case did not tell us was whether the proclamation continued to have validity after its uncertain emergency character at its inception.

H. R. 11372 had an expiration date of June 30, 1975. H. R. 11372 was repealed by Public Law 93-643, Section 154 of Title 23 of the United States

Code. This act was approved January 1, 1973.

The statutory foundation of the proclamation of the Governor was thereby destroyed by Act of Congress on January 4, 1975.

The federal government kept to its policy of a national 55 mile limit but all references to national emergency or fuel shortage were deleted. The new legislation required state action pursuant to the new statute. No new action sanctioned by Utah law was taken after January 4, 1975.

In any event the original federal statute defining the fuel shortage as its premise for federal funding control would have expired by its own terms on June 30, 1975. There could have been no valid effect for the Governor's Rule after the termination date of the federal statute on which the Governor premised his action.

This state of affairs leads logically to this question: Does a proclamation of the Governor acquire an independent life of its own that can go on forever irrespective of changes of circumstance that prompted the proclamation?

It was the position of the trial judge in this case that the proclamation would go on forever unless the Governor himself made a new declaration or repeal.

On the other hand, Judge Christofferson of the District Court of Box Elder County has taken the other position and has ruled that the proclamation is no longer effective because the Arab oil embargo no longer exists. Judge Christofferson so ruled in the case of State Vs. Mansfield, Criminal No. 1722 in the District Court of Box Elder County on August 15, 1977. A notice of appeal has been filed by the Box Elder County Attorney and should be pending in the Supreme Court shortly. The Court will thus be confronted with contrary decisions on this issue from the trial courts.

In this respect it is worth noting that H. R. 11372 itself was framed in

temporary terms. Section 2 (e) of the Act provided that the act would no longer be effective on the date when the President should declare that there was no longer a fuel shortage or June 30, 1975, whichever should occur first.

The legislation was not even passed in a permanent form. It was passed as a resolution and signed by the President but was not even codified in the U. S. Code. The new permanent legislation is codified as Section 154 of Title 23 but it is adopted as a matter of ongoing national policy with no reference to any emergency.

While it is now generally recognized that there must be long term adjustments in energy usage in this country, the plans for the adjustments are generally aiming at supply problems in the mid-nineteen eighties. In the absence of sudden interruption of supply no petroleum crisis is expected until that time. It is the national plan to ease out of heavy petroleum reliance so that the crisis may never arrive.

In the meantime it is the proper function of the Legislature to make permanent laws. There have been four scheduled meetings of the Utah Legislature since H. R. 11372 became effective. There have been one or more special sessions since that time. The Legislature could have taken permanent action if it had been so inclined.

Actually, the Legislature did enact 55 mile legislation in the 1977 Regular Session, but it was vetoed by the Governor. This legislation was H. B. 79.

We are left in the highly unusual circumstance of a legislature having made an effort to comply with the federal statute vetoed by a governor while a governor's proclamation is being enforced by the executive branch and some of the courts. Whatever virtuous motivations the Governor may have or the

Legislature may have, the effect of the present posture is that the executive says we do it my way or not at all. We are thus left in a posture, if the Supreme Court holds the 55 mile proclamation to still be effective, where the Governor makes the law and the Legislature is not permitted to.

I do not mean to impugn two good governors and many conscientious legislators. But we have arrived at a circumstance where we are following neither the letter nor the spirit of our State Constitution. Article V Section 1 of the Constitution of Utah provides that the powers of the government of the State of Utah shall be divided into three distinct departments, the Legislative, the Executive and the Judicial and no person charged with the exercise of powers properly belonging to one of these departments, shall exercise any functions appertaining to either of the others, except in cases herein expressly directed or permitted.

While the action of the Governor of January 2, 1974, has been sustained by the Supreme Court, it is best that the public action which might be proper in time of crisis should not be allowed to run beyond its proper time to the detriment of our constitutional system. The Supreme Court should determine that the Governor's proclamation became null and void On January 4, 1975 to June 30, 1975. Better logic would suggest the use of the date when H. R. 1 was repealed on January 4, 1975.

POINT II

THE SPEED LIMIT RULE DEBACLE HAS CREATED A SITUATION WHERE NO DRIVER CAN KNOW WHAT LAW IS VIOLATED AND AN ACCUSED IS THUS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW

The Salt Lake Tribune and Deseret News of Wednesday, August 24, 1974 carried stories to the effect that the Attorney General had advised highway patrolmen in the First Judicial District to write speed tickets carrying information such that Justice Courts and City Courts could treat the citation as

charging an accused with either violation of the Governor's proclamation or the prima facie speed law. This compounds the confusion surrounding the 55 mile rule. There should be no difference in one district from what goes on elsewhere in the state. The law, whatever it is, is the same state-wide and should be enforced the same way statewide. We are not dealing with a pornography case where some local standards may be applied.

This procedure is especially bad because it leaves the public grossly confused. The proclamation of the Governor is either valid or it is not valid. Policemen, prosecutors and judges should not be offered a smorgasbord from which they can select a basis for a charge. Due process requires that the accused should know of the claim against him without being subjected to a game of official roulette in looking for a legal peg to hang a charge on. If the Legislature had made the law, there would be no need for every policeman, prosecutor or judge to make the law.

While this current recommendation of the Attorney General has no bearing on this case, it is symptomatic of what has been happening all along. After the proclamation of the Governor, someone in official circles must have had some doubt. On January 25, 1974, the State Road Commission approved a resolution declaring a 55 MPH rule pursuant to Section 27-12-121 of the Utah Code. The Highway Commission moved again in 1975 after the repeal of H. R. 11372. On May 23, 1975, it again resolved that the speed limit should be 55 MPH at a maximum pursuant to Section 27-12-121 of the Utah Code and reciting the Act of Congress of January 4, 1975.

In the case before Judge Christofferson, the Mansfield case, Judge Christofferson had originally ruled that Mansfield could be tried on a 55 mile rule, but that the 55 mile limit would be a prima facie limit. In doing so he expressed his approval of a learned memorandum of the Honorable Bryant H.

Croft, dated March 17, 1975, in the District Court of Salt Lake County. The memorandum resulted from the cases of State vs. Andreini and State Vs. Cr. Nos. 27436 and 27034. Judge Croft ruled that the proclamation of the Governor was invalid but that he considered the action of the Road Commission having established a 55 MPH prima facie speed limit.

After the Supreme Court Ruling in the Foukas case, the complaint against Mansfield was amended to charge him with a violation of the Governor's Proclamation which Judge Christofferson then ruled was no longer effective.

In another case before Judge Cornaby of the Layton City Court, the Judge followed the Croft theory with his own variation that while the 55 MPH rule was a prima facie rule, that the State would have the burden of proving the unreasonableness of speed in excess of 55 MPH. This was in the Case of State Vs. Mansfield, no case number. The decision was dated December 1, 1975. The state then declined to proceed in the case and the case was dropped.

Recent news stories tell of Provo City Judges disposing of 55 MPH cases as fuel wasting cases because of their concern with the 55 MPH rule.

The point of this recitation is that the official action of the Governor and the Highway Commission has created a situation of legal chaos such that these learned judges have all come up with an array of different results that demonstrate that it has been inherently impossible for anyone to know what the speed limit has been during various times since January 2, 1974. If these good judges could come up with their varying reactions to the 55 MPH rule, where is the average citizen to find simple, clear guidelines as to what the speed law was in Utah.

An inherently vague state of affairs has resulted which demonstrates the vague nature of the rule. This makes the rule void for vagueness under

Article I Section 7 of the Utah Constitution and under Amendments V and XIV of the Federal Constitution.

POINT III

THE STATE ITSELF APPARENTLY DOESN'T REALLY BELIEVE THAT THE GOVERNOR'S PROCLAMATION IS VALID

On the 26th day of August, 1977, the Highway Commission passed an emergency resolution establishing a new 55 MPH rule. They presumably based the rule on certain data from the Federal Department of Transportation which tended to show that there had been fewer road deaths since the 55 Mile Rule had been in effect. This was apparently a pretense at coming up with a prima facie 55 Mile Rule based on some sort of traffic study. The action was apparently a holding action to keep the public from driving faster until the next Legislature can meet and take care of the problem. This action of the Commission is undoubtedly void and is undoubtedly based on its fear of losing federal funds rather than on a reasoned reaction to highway safety

The point of this reference, however, is that the State itself apparently does not really believe the Governor's Proclamation to still be in effect and has rushed in to fill its pending financial vacuum.

CONCLUSION

The Supreme Court should reverse the decision of the Second District Juvenile Court and direct dismissal of the charge against the young person.