1977

State of Utah In the Interest of Prisbrey, David (6/3/59) A Person Under Eighteen Years of Age : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PROCLAMATION OF FORMER GOVERNOR RAMPTON ISSUED JANUARY 2, 1974, AND THE PROCLAMATION OF GOVERNOR MATHESON ISSUED APRIL 4, 1977, ESTABLISHING A 55 MILE PER HOUR MAXIMUM SPEED LIMIT ON HIGHWAYS WITHIN THE STATE HAVE ESTABLISHED AT ALL TIMES MENTIONED HEREIN CONSTITUTIONALLY

PERMISSIBLE AND LEGALLY ENFORCEABLE SPEEDING STANDARDS.¹

During the critical period following the Arab oil embargo in late 1973, the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act, Public Law 93-239; 87 Stat. 1046 [H.R. 11372], was signed into law, establishing a temporary maximum speed limit of 55 miles per hour on all highways (see Appendix "A"). The legislative history of this act, discussed in 1974 U.S. Code Congressional and Administrative News, pp. 8019-8020, included the following report:

"Uniform National Speed Limit and Enforcement. This era of energy shortage has brought about a dramatic change in the public attitude toward energy and its use. The Arab oil embargo in November 1973 focused public attention on the issue and prompted a series of measures designed to reduce our consumption of fuel. Congressional action was taken to reduce the speed limits on our Nation's highways.

-
- 1 Although many of the acts and rulings mentioned in respondent's brief are not a part of the record below, respondent asks this Court's indulgence to consider these outside references. The Utah Rules of Evidence, effective July 1, 1971, specifically Rule 12, permits the reviewing court to use its discretion in deciding whether to take judicial notice of facts which are relevant to the issues in dispute, whether or not they were judicially noticed by the lower court. Where respondent refers to documents or other resources not a part of the record, it attaches copies of same as appendices for the Court's convenience.

The Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act (Public Law 93-239) was signed into law on January 2, 1974, establishing a temporary maximum speed limit of 55 miles per hour on all highways. The speed limit continues in effect until the President declares that there is not a fuel shortage requiring the application of the Act or until June 30, 1975, whichever first occurs.

The benefits of the lower maximum speed limit has been so substantial that the Committee is proposing that it be continued until such time as the Congress declares by concurrent resolution that it is no longer necessary.

According to reports from the Federal Energy Administration, over five million gallons of fuel have been saved daily as a result of the reduction in speeds and travel on the highways. This should be reason enough to maintain the lower speed limits; however, there has also been a sharp reduction in highway fatalities. The National Highway Traffic Safety Administration has estimated a 20-percent drop in traffic fatalities, which represents 1,000 fewer Americans being killed each month.

Several recent studies have attempted to identify factors contributing to the reduction of traffic fatalities. Results of a National Safety Council study indicate that 46 percent of the reduction is the result of reduced speeds, 21 percent the result of reduced travel on the highways, and the remainder attributable to other factors such as reduced occupancy and greater use of safety belts. A recent study by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials found that approximately half of the reduction in traffic fatalities is the result of reduced speeds and more uniform speeds and half as attributable to all other factors.

A recent Gallup Poll showed that 72 percent of the American people favor keeping the 55 miles per hour speed limit. A solid majority in each major region of the nation favored keeping the speed limit, even in the Midwest and West where highway traffic is often lighter. Despite the fact that fuel conservation was the reason for reducing the speed limits, the key reason given by those who favored the lower speed was the saving of lives.

In terms of realizing greater fuel conservation and fatality reduction on the highways, the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act has been a success. The Committee is concerned about the lack of enforcement of the 55 miles per hour speed limit.

If the 55 miles per hour speed limit is to remain effective as an energy and life saving measure, it must be effectively enforced. The Committee has included in the bill a provision requiring States to certify annually that they are enforcing all State laws with respect to existing maximum vehicle sizes and weights permitted on the Interstate System and with respect to the 55 miles per hour speed limit. Failure to comply will result in the withholding of approval of Federal aid highway projects, under section 106 of Title 23, United States Code." (Emphasis added.)

As indicated in this report, in an effort to induce the states to effectively enforce the lower speed limit, a National Maximum Speed Limit was enacted on January 4, 1975, to make this maximum speeding limit permanent and to withhold approval of federal aid to highway projects to those states failing to comply:

"§ 154. National maximum speed limit.

(a) The Secretary of Transportation shall not approve any project under section 106 in any State which has (1) a maximum speed limit on any public highway within its jurisdiction in excess of fifty-five miles per hour, or (2) a speed limit on any other portion of a public highway within its jurisdiction which is not uniformly applicable to all types of motor vehicles using such portion of highway, if on November 1, 1973, such portion of highway had a speed limit which was uniformly applicable to all types of motor vehicles using it. A lower speed limit may be established for any vehicle operating under a special permit because of any weight or dimension of such vehicle, including any load thereon. Clause (2) of this subsection shall not apply to any portion of a highway during such time that the condition of the highway, weather, an accident, or other condition creates a temporary hazard to the safety of traffic on such portions of a highway.

(b) As used in this section the term 'motor vehicle' means any vehicle driven or drawn by mechanical power manufactured primarily for use on public highways, except any vehicle operated exclusively on a rail or rails.

(c) Notwithstanding the provisions of section 120 sums apportioned to any State under section 104 shall be available to pay the entire cost of any modification of the signing of the Federal-aid highways for which such sums are apportioned within such State due to a reduction in speed limits to conserve fuel if such change in signing occurs or has occurred after November 1, 1973.

(d) The requirements of this section shall be deemed complied with by administrative action lawfully taken by the Governor or other appropriate State official that complies with this section." 23 U.S.C. 154 (Public Laws 93-643). (Emphasis added.)²

2 Further, to implement the requirements of 23 U.S.C. 154, federal regulations were promulgated specifying what states must do in order to be considered to have successfully complied with the federal conservation measures (see Appendix "B").

On January 2, 1974, pursuant to these federal measures, then Governor Calvin Rampton issued a proclamation (Appendix "C"), acknowledging President Richard Nixon's declaration of the existence of conditions amounting to a national emergency. He therefore established by proclamation a policy of a 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit on highways within the State. The Governor drew authority for his action from Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-46(4) (1953), which states:

"Provided, that the governor by proclamation, in time of war or national emergency, may upon recommendation of the federal authorities, change the speed on the highways of the state, to conform to such recommendations."

The State Road Commission issued a Resolution on January 25, 1974, adopting "a maximum speed limit on all highways within the State of Utah of 55 miles per hour pursuant to the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act which became effective January 2, 1974. Said limit to remain in effect until the date the President declares there is no fuel shortage or on June 30, 1975, whichever date first occurs." (See Appendix "D".)

On May 23, 1975, apparently anticipating the termination date of the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act, the State Road Commission adopted a 55 mile per hour maximum speed

limit "pursuant to Federal law, said limit to remain in effect until amended, modified or repealed by lawful Resolution of the Commission or its successor, or by the legislature of the State of Utah." (See Appendix "E".)

When Governor Scott Matheson assumed office, he apparently saw the need to issue a proclamation on this issue in his own name. Therefore, on April 4, 1977, Governor Matheson issued a proclamation nearly identical to that issued previously by Governor Rampton (see Appendix "F"). Finally, in a resolution adopted August 26, 1977, the Utah Transportation Commission formally adopted the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit on highways within the State of Utah for the following reasons:

1. ". . . the United States, by action of Congress on January 4, 1975, and subsequent approval of the President, has repealed Section 2 of the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act, establishing a temporary national maximum speed limit of 55 miles per hour. . . ."

2. ". . . the same action by Congress and the President of the United States established a permanent 55 miles-per-hour maximum speed limit. . . ."

3. ". . . studies completed by the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration support the concept that the 55 mile-per-hour speed limit has resulted in saving lives. . . ."

4. "... Utah Department of Transportation engineering and traffic investigations indicate that compliance with the 55 mile-per-hour speed limit would result in fewer accidents and would be a benefit to the health, safety, and welfare of the State." (See Appendix "G".)

Such is the background of the administrative and legislative activity on both the State and Federal levels in relation to this matter.

In light of this, the appellant seems to argue the following:

1. That apparently the proclamation issued by Governor Rampton was invalid because no national emergency existed.

2. That the National Maximum Speed Limit, Public Law 93-643, repealed the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act, Public Law 93-239, so even if the governor's proclamation had validity to begin with, it no longer did after the repeal January 4, 1975.

3. That if Public Law 93-643 did not effect a termination then the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act died by its own terms June 30, 1975.

4. That assuming the proclamation was valid, it cannot live forever, and since the legislature has not ratified the 55 mile per hour speed limit, then it should have at some point become ineffective, probably before

the date of the appellant's speeding violation.

Respondent submits that each and every one of appellant's claims is meritless and contrary to the weight of authority. Appellant fails to support his claims with legal authority because none exists in support thereof. Admittedly, the interaction with federal and state law is an exceedingly complex affair and confusion is not an unlikely result in the absence of clear cut guidelines. Moreover, in the area of gubernatorial proclamations there is a dearth of statutory or case law pertaining to the durations of proclamations issued by those offices. However, respondent submits that what law does exist supports the proposition that the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit is both permissible and in effect in Utah at all times mentioned herein.

The situation we now find ourselves in had its inception in the days of the Arab oil embargo. This embargo acted like a catalyst, alerting the country to the realization that our oil resources were in a delicate, precarious and critical balance. During the closing months of 1973, President Nixon encouraged immediate and severe energy conservation. Rumors of possible gas rationing floated about, along with other alarming ideas. Although these particular fears never materialized, our new President,

Jimmy Carter, has also strongly emphasized the seriousness of our energy situation. Possible penalties for "gas-guzzling" automobiles may become a reality; tax incentives for home insulation may become a reality, along with other energy conservation policies. What kind of period we are now in has been characterized by our President and by many experts as very critical insofar as energy conservation is concerned.

1. Initially, the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act was enacted to cope with the imminent threat of running out of oil. Thereafter, the permanent National Maximum Speed Limit, supra, was adopted to make citizens alert to the very present danger of wasting fuel during the critical period in which this country is adopting to other, more available energy resources.

In the recent decision of State v. Foukas, 560 P.2d 312 (Utah 1977), this Court upheld the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit. In interpreting Utah Code Ann. § 41-6-46(4) (1953), as amended, this Court noted that the term "emergency" meant "an unforeseen combination of circumstances which calls for immediate action. . . ." In applying this definition to the time when the Governor issued his proclamation, the Court decided that conditions

then existed which did constitute a national emergency. In dicta, Justice Ellett stated that the energy crisis in the intervening years may not appear to be "as serious as originally forecasted." Id. at 313. Respondent submits that although the situation may not have been as acute as it was in late 1973 and early 1974, a continuing threat exists nonetheless and that this threat is serious enough to our elected representatives in Washington to warrant legislation encouraging conservation.

Furthermore, the term "national emergency" articulated in Section 41-6-46(4) and defined in State v. Foukas, supra, is broad enough to be flexible with changing post-enactment circumstances:

"Statutes are practical documents having practical effects. It is therefore improper to construe them in the abstract, without regard for the implications of the historical milieu into which they are thrust for the purpose of exerting an influence and with which they must interact. Since legislation is, in the nature of things, addressed to the future, information about contemporaneous and post-enactment facts and developments is relevant to a quest for legislative intent on the general ground that the legislature must have contemplated the interaction of the new law with such facts and developments even though it could not then foresee their precise character.

Correlatively, such information is also relevant to a decision according to what the statute means to others to the extent that people affected by an act could be expected to have their understanding of it influenced by knowledge about such facts and developments.

Contemporaneous and practical construction brings to bear the judgments and responses of administrative authorities, enforcement officials, and others closely involved in the actual operation of a statute concerning how it relates to the unfolding circumstances of history." Sutherland on Statutory Construction, 4th Ed., Vol. 2A, § 49.01.

"In construing their own state statutes the courts should take judicial notice of contemporaneous circumstances and usage, although the rule may be different where the construction of local ordinances or regulations and statutes of other states are involved." Id. at § 49.03.

Further, this Court in Utah Power and Light Co. v. Public Service Commission, 107 Utah 155, 152 P.2d 542 (1944) stated that courts should give great weight to "consistent administrative interpretations over the years by the officers charged with the duty of applying the statute and making each part work efficiently and smoothly. . . ." Id., 107 Utah at 187, 152 P.2d at 557. See also authority cited therein. Additionally, this Court approved of the proposition of harmonizing where possible the language of an act with the "carrying out of the responsibilities" of an administrative

agency in "the most prudent and profitable manner possible."

Colman v. Utah State Land Board, 17 Utah 2d 14, 18, 403 P.2d 781, 783 (1965).

Finally, authority exists for the position that a governor's proclamation made in the discharges of his official duties are as much due process of law as the judgment of a court. The general rule is that a court cannot interfere with the executive actions of a governor, which include proclamations, so long as they fall within the scope of his lawful authority, except in cases of extreme urgency. His decisions are regarded as conclusive and his acts are not reviewable as to the error of judgment in the exercise of his duties. Indeed, it is often held that whenever the action of a governor in any matters authorized by law comes before the court for review, it is its duty to sustain him. Hatfield v. Graham, 73 W.Va. 759, 81 S.E. 533 (1914); State ex rel. Brotherton v. Moore, 230 S.E.2d 638 (1976); State ex rel. Brotherton v. Blankenship, 207 S.E.2d 421 (1973); State v. Jones, 17 Utah 2d 190, 407 P.2d 571 (1965).

In the case at bar, not just one but two governors have interpreted their duties as requiring them to issue these respective proclamations. This kind of "consistent administrative interpretation" should be given great weight by this Court. Moreover, these actions were within the sphere of our governor's legal authority and should be sustained by this Court.

2. The National Maximum Speed Limit, supra, apparently abrogated the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act but this abrogation does not by implication amount to a declaration that no critical energy situation any longer exists. Admittedly, Section 2 in the Emergency Highway Energy Conservation Act was deleted in the later bill, but it must be noted that the second act was intended to make permanent what the first act had only made temporary. If any implication should be drawn concerning the second act's intent, it should be that the second act was intended to implement an on-going energy conservation policy in the face of a critical situation.

3. Finally, appellant contends that a governor's proclamation should not be of indefinite duration. While respondent does not now disagree with this contention, it submits that the point is not in issue in the case at bar. The proclamation issued by Governor Rampton and the one issued by Governor Matheson are both valid and have been at all times mentioned herein for three reasons:

A. There exists an ongoing critical energy situation. "The governor's powers are those the constitution confers on him and such additional powers as the legislature reposes in him." Holmes v. Osborn, 115 P.2d 775, 783 (1941). Having been conferred duties in Art. VII § 5 of the Utah Constitution and the power to issue proclamations as per

Section 41-6-46(4), the governor is considered to be in the position to determine whether or not a national emergency exists. The way he construes this or other statutes, although not binding on the courts, if his construction is "not out of harmony with the apparent intent, the administrative interpretation will be given some weight in applying the statutes to controversies that arise thereunder." State v. Hatch, 9 Utah 2d 288, 290, 342 P.2d 1103, 1105 (1959); State v. Davenport, 149 P.2d 360 (1944).

B. In the case at bar the Utah Legislature has not repealed or in any other way attempted to nullify the governors' proclamation in four scheduled meetings, which appellant himself points out. Respondent submits that such inaction tends to ratify the governors' proclamations by inaction. Sutherland on Statutory Construction points out:

"Where there has been a long continued administrative interpretation of a statute which has two or more possible reasonable interpretations, the rulings of the administrative body should be controlling.

The conclusiveness of a contemporaneous and practical interpretation will depend upon a number of additional elements that give efficacy to the rule. In general, these elements are: (1) that the interpretation originated from a reliable source; (2) that the interpretation was made at or near the time of the enactment of the statute, and

(3) that the interpretation has continued for a long period of time and received wide acceptance and following. Where these factors are present the vagueness usually surrounding the other aids of construction are not present, and therefore the rule serves as one of the most definite and reliable sources of statutory meaning." Id., Vol. 2A, § 49.04. (Emphasis added.)

C. Appellant cites H.B. 79, the bill regarding the 55 mile per hour speed limit which was vetoed, in support of his claim that the governor has thwarted legislative efforts while seeking to enforce his own proclamation. H.B. 79 (see Exhibit "H") did not replace the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit; it provided, inter alia, that anyone cited for violating that upper limit would not be assessed points against his driving record for that speeding. Such a bill would have taken the teeth out of the maximum speed limit so as to make a mockery out of the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit. Since the governor has the duty to report enforcement of the speeding limit in order to effectively comply with the National Maximum Speed Limit, supra, he would be rendered unable to do so if H.B. 79 passed, thereby causing Utah to lose federal funding for its highways.

In view of the foregoing authority and reasoning, respondent submits that the proclamation issued to establish a maximum 55 mile per hour speed limit was lawfully permissible and in effect when appellant violated it and at all times mentioned herein.

POINT II

THE LAW PERTAINING TO THE 55 MILE PER HOUR SPEED LIMIT IS CLEAR AND OBVIOUS TO DRIVERS IN THE STATE OF UTAH AND APPELLANT IS WITHOUT GROUNDS TO ARGUE HE WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS BECAUSE OF ANY ALLEGED AMBIGUITY.

Appellant argues that because the governor's proclamation has in his opinion questionable validity and because district court judges have made differing rulings on the subject, that therefore a situation of "legal chaos" exists such that it is impossible for anyone to know what the speed limit has been during the times since January 2, 1974. Admittedly although this issue is complicated and a ruling by this Court at this point is desirable, the governor was acting within the scope of his authority in issuing the proclamation of January 2, 1974, State v. Foukas, supra, establishing the 55 mile per hour speed limit. In coordination with that proclamation the Department of Highway did post signs to reflect the 55 mile per hour maximum speed limit order. Moreover, the governor's proclamation ordered that 55 miles per hour was to be an "absolute limitation and not merely a prima facie establishment of safe and reasonable speed." (See Appendix "C".)

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